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Mr. Tom Scofield, AICP 
Planning & Zoning Department 
Town of Leesburg 
Board of Architectural Review 
25 West Market Street 
Leesburg, VA  20176 
 
 
Re: BAR submittal of 106, 108, 110, 112 Edwards Ferry Road for Demolition Approval 
 
 
Dear Mr. Scofield: 
 
Dewberry respectfully submits the four existing houses noted above for Board of Architectural Review and permission for demolition.  
We have conducted the applicable investigations, review of properties and present this information for your review.  All of these are 
currently designated contributing structures, are structurally sound and are within the footprint of the proposed New District 
Courthouse and its supporting infrastructure. 
 
Over many years, the community has discussed the location of this new courthouse and its impact on the preservation of the 
downtown core of the Town of Leesburg and its economic success.  Although a far simpler solution would have been to move the 
courthouse campus to a suburban location we have chosen to remain in our historic civic location and to expand in place.  This 
expansion is occurring on a small and irregular site.  Through careful planning and programming we have reached a required program 
space of 92,000 gross square feet.  After exploring 13 possible layouts of this square footage in a three story structure three possible 
solutions, all impacting the four houses, were chosen as the most functional.  These were developed to include site infrastructure, 
utilizes and compliance with the very new and stringent storm water management requirements implemented by the State of Virginia 
this year. 
 
We are currently only submitting the four houses for review.  While contributing structures, these four houses have been significantly 
altered with very little original or historic materials remaining.  We have documented this in attached materials.  Much of this work 
was done prior to the County’s purchase of these properties.  Their value lies in the context they create along the street.  We explored 
relocation but their value in another location due to their condition makes that a poor solution and could never replicate the context in 
which they currently exist.  All buildings will be fully documented prior to demolition.   
 
Preliminary design for the new courthouse is included but this building is not developed far enough to include a final package.  We 
expect to submit a full package for the New District Courthouse early in 2015.  It is our intent to submit the 1980’s addition to the 
Valley Bank for demolition at that time as well.  This project will represent the natural growth and evolution of the Courts Campus.  
Our new structure will act to frame and highlight the more historic structures on the campus; the second oldest bank in the Country-the 
1820 Valley Bank, the 1895 Historic Courthouse and the 1844/1873 Academy Building along with the 1955 “clone.” 
 
We are currently exploring the landscape design of the public space which will be created along Edwards Ferry Road by the 
placement of the New District Courthouse to align with the existing courts campus.  It is our intent to acknowledge the former location 
of these houses with icons in the landscape and historical markers.  We will also have on display in the completed courthouse 
appropriate artifacts that were found during the archeological investigation. 
 
The new building, being designed with input from all sectors of the community, will represent the future of Justice in Loudoun County 
and will take the Courts into 2025. 
 
Sincerely, 
Marlene Walli Shade AIA 
Associate Principal 
 
Attachments; Permission letter from Loudoun County to apply, Applications for each property, Narratives for each property, 
photographs of each elevation of each property, Site diagram showing overlap of required new construction over existing houses, 
photographs of houses with non-historic elements hatched, diagram of site context, perspectives and views of New District 
Courthouse, current floor plans of New District Courthouse, Archeological and Historic Survey, Intensive Survey of Previous Jail 
prior to Demolition, response to June 5th memo from Tom Scofield. 
 
 
 
 





 

 

Loudoun County Courts Expansion    11.17.2014 
Application for the removal of 112 Edwards Ferry Road. 
DHR ID 253-0035-0494 
 

Background 

Loudoun County is requesting the demolition of the structure located at 112 Edwards Ferry 
Road to accommodate the expansion of the County Courthouse onto the Church Street lot.  
Over many years, the County and the Town have discussed the expansion of the current 
Courthouse complex to include the property bounded by Church Street, Edwards Ferry Road 
and the historic cemetery.  Four historic structures currently exist on this property. The Town 
has stressed that maintaining the presence of the County Courthouse in its current location is 
vital to the growth and enhancement of a healthy, historic downtown.  The County concurs that 
the larger preservation issue at hand, is the continued relevance of the historic downtown as a 
hub for civic, commercial, and residential activity.  The expansion of the Courts complex is 
integral to this overarching preservation goal.  

The expansion of the Courthouse complex necessitates the use of the property addressed in 
this application, raising the issue of the maintenance or removal of the structure located at 112 
Edwards Ferry Road.  The County understands that the property, and the historic structures on 
the property, are contributing elements to the Leesburg Old and Historic District and are thus 
part of the historic fabric of downtown Leesburg. The County has evaluated alternatives to 
demolition as part of the design of the expanded Courthouse complex.  However the 
preservation of this structure is not possible given the requirements for the new construction 
associated with the expansion. 

After careful analysis of possible layouts for the new courthouse the architects developed 
thirteen possible layouts for this courthouse.  Each was driven by the minimum size of a District 
Courtroom in the Commonwealth of Virginia.  That is 1800 square feet clear inside the 
Courtroom.  Functional requirements drive the width and length of the courtroom.  This and 
the adjacent requirement for in-custody defendants and both secure and public circulation 
paths determine the width and length of the courtroom block.  Design options are greatly 
hampered by the overall size of this lot and the “L” shape configuration of the lot itself.  Of 
these thirteen concepts, all of which required an overlap of the houses in question, seven were 
presented to the County and vetted through a consensus process with the County and Users.  
Five concepts were deemed acceptable for further development and were. These five were 
studied for appropriate building form, setback, orientation, massing and complexity of form, 
spacing as well as height, width, scale and directional expression, all considerations of the 
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Leesburg Old and Historic Design Guidelines.  Through public meetings, meetings with the Town 
of Leesburg and further user input the five concepts were reduced to two. These are presented 
in this application along with materials related to the four houses themselves.   

Consideration of the elements noted above all led to the two preferred final designs.  This 
includes a footprint that provides the required 92,000 gross square feet on three floors which 
overlaps the four Edwards Ferry Road houses, in particular 112 Edwards Ferry Road.  Due to the 
confines of the site, construction could not occur without some disruption beyond the footing 
shown-ten to fifteen feet to a minimum, which further encroaches on the structure.  A 
cemetery to the north and existing storm water management structure to the east will direct 
the cranes required for this construction to Church Street or Edwards Ferry Road.  The general 
topography of the site (which slopes approximately 18 feet from the southwest corner to the 
northeast corner) will require two separate storm water management solution areas (one to 
the north and one to the south) to meet the new Commonwealth of Virginia requirements. One 
SWM structure will be located to the north of the new building and two to the south.  The 
southern solution, due to limited site area will be concrete underground sand filter structures, 
one of which by necessity is located directly below the structure in question.  In addition to 
their size, these require access for yearly maintenance.  Existing utility connections are shown 
on accompanying exhibits and will disrupt the site to the south of the new building and further 
impact these four houses. 

112 Edwards Ferry Road 

 The subject structure is contributing to the historic district.  However, the structure has been 
significantly altered, with very little original or historic materials remaining and, based on 
current documentation it is unlikely that this structure would be eligible for individual listing in 
the National Register of Historic Places.  Included at the conclusion of this narrative is a 
synopsis of the structure inclusive of remaining historic features, alterations and replacement 
materials. 

 The viability of this structure to support continued County functions is extremely limited to 
non-existent due to the security issues associated with contemporary court facilities. Given the 
importance of retaining the courts complex in downtown, historic Leesburg, relative to the 
historic significance of the subject structure, the County proposes to demolish the structure at 
112 Edwards Ferry Road to allow for the construction of the new courthouse, retaining the 
important civic presence of the courts in their current setting which is foundational to the 
vitality of the historic district.  The increased activity in and around the proposed courthouse 
will support the continued vibrancy of the downtown and potentially support reinvestment in 
the surrounding historic properties.  The expansion of the civic presence of the courts to the 
east will transform what is currently an underutilized property into a civic center that will 
support the civic core of downtown Leesburg, thereby preserving over 230 years of the 
presence of the Courts in the center of the town of Leesburg. 
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Preservation and Mitigation Strategies 

Historic preservation can take many forms and there are various strategies that can be used to 
mitigate the loss of a historic structure. Relocation is often suggested as a means of preserving 
a historic structure.  Relocation may be appropriate in limited cases, particularly when a 
structure historically significant enough to be individually eligible for the National Register.  
Relocation of the subject structures which are only significant in the context of the larger 
historic district is not a viable preservation strategy.  The County is committed to preserving 
archivally the structures on the subject property through the completion of an intensive level 
architectural survey meeting Virginia Department of Historic Resources’ standards and 
archaeological investigation of the property.  The County is further committed to working with 
the Town to creatively incorporate and interpret the history of the subject structures as part of 
the development of the new courthouse in a way that is dynamic and relevant to the public at 
large.  The courts complex is an ideal venue for public interpretation, appreciation and 
engagement in our shared history.   Such efforts could include outline tracings of the footprints 
of the subject structures on the property, or selective demolition to salvage specific 
architectural elements that can be repurposed to create hardscape features, public sculpture, 
etc. 

New Courthouse Construction  

Preliminary, conceptual design for the new courthouse is included with this application for the 
BAR’s reference.  However, the new construction is not a part of the current application.   The 
County expects to submit a full package for the New District Courthouse early in 2015.   

The courthouse expansion and associated site improvements will represent the natural growth 
and evolution of the Courts Campus within the Town of Leesburg.  Our new structure will act to 
frame and highlight the highly historic structures on the campus; the second oldest bank in the 
Country-the 1820 Valley Bank, the 1895 Historic Courthouse and the 1844/1873 Academy 
Building along with the 1955 “clone.” 

We are currently exploring the landscape design of the public space which will be created along 
Edwards Ferry Road by the placement of the New District Courthouse.  It is proposed that this 
new green space will align with the existing open space on the current courts campus which 
fronts on Market Street. Again, it is our intent to acknowledge the former location of the 
structure at 112 Edwards Ferry Road in some manner.  We will also have on display in the 
completed courthouse appropriate artifacts that were found during the archeological 
investigation.  The new building, being designed with input from all sectors of the community, 
will represent the future of justice in Loudoun County and will take the Courts into 2025, while 
supporting the continued vibrancy of historic Leesburg, VA. 
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Structure at 112 Edwards Ferry Road  
DHR ID 253-0035-0494 
 

The original footprint ca. 1820, was the one-story building.  By 1899, a frame 2-story was added 
to the brick portion, and a 1-story rear ell.  The rear ell was expanded to 2-stories between 
1912 and 1930.  The 2-story porch was added between 1982 and 1988. 

Not Historic-                      Windows, siding, gable vents, shutters, doors, door frames, cornice        
trim, rear porch, rear concrete slab. 

 
Historic-                             Gable windows original, most of brick original, window frames, water  

table between first and second floor. Roofing may be historic.  
     
Site: This building stands along the northern side of Edwards Ferry Road in the Town of 
Leesburg. It abuts the concrete sidewalk along the street. To the east and west are other 
former buildings. A board fence is found north of the house along an asphalt-paved 
parking lot. A level lawn is found immediately east, west, and north of the house. 
 
Exterior: This two-story former dwelling stands on a brick foundation. The core of the 
building measures four bays wide and one bay deep with a four-bay deep gabled rear ell. 
The side-gabled roof is covered with standing seam metal and features partial cornice 
returns. The first floor of the core is six-course common bond brick while the remainder 
of the building, the second floor of the core and the rear ell, are of frame clad with 
German siding. A two-story tall, wooden porch with square wooden posts and matchstick 
railing is found between the north wall of the core and the rear ell. The main entry is in 
the second-from-the-west bay of the façade. The windows are two-over-two, double-hung 
sash , having stone stills and flat brick arches on the first floor, and simple board trim in 
the remainder of the building. There are three corbelled cap brick chimneys in this 
building, one at each gable end of the core and the other in the center of the rear ell. 
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INTENSIVE ARCHITECTURAL SURVEY OF  
106, 108, 110, AND 112 EDWARDS FERRY ROAD 

TOWN OF LEESBURG 
LOUDOUN COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY – FINAL  

NOVEMBER 5, 2014 
 
At the behest of Loudoun County, JMA (John Milner Associates, Inc.) conducted an Intensive 
Architectural Survey of four buildings in the Town of Leesburg: 106, 108, 110, and 112 Edwards 
Ferry Road (Figures 1 and 2). The purpose of the investigation was to document the interior and 
exterior of these historic architectural resources. The survey was designed to comply with the 
Virginia Department of Historic Resources (VDHR) Guidelines for Conducting Cultural 
Resource Survey in Virginia (VDHR 2011) and the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and 
Guidelines for Archaeology and Historic Preservation. The study included limited historic 
background research on the history of the project area and its vicinity as well as detailed map and 
deed research for each contributing resource. The field investigation was conducted on 4 March 
and 3 April 2014.  
 
Field methods included field survey and investigation with digital photography of the four 
resources. Site plans, floor plans, photographic prints, and an intensive DSS form were prepared 
for each resource.  
 
The four buildings documented are all contributing resources to the Leesburg Historic District 
(DHR ID 253-0035). They have the following DHR IDs: 106 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-
0491), 108 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0492), 110 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0493), 
and 112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494). There is no recorded individual determination of 
eligibility for any of these buildings. The Leesburg Historic District is significant for its 
architecture and community planning/development for the period 1757 – 1950 (Weidlich, 
McDonald, and Trieschmann 2001 8:81). These four buildings are close to the center of town 
where the historic district is comprised of tightly packed governmental, commercial, and 
residential buildings. They were all built as dwellings and converted to county offices in 1980 
when purchased by Loudoun County from the Slack family.  
 
 
 



MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 
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INTENSIVE ARCHITECTURAL SURVEY OF  
106, 108, 110, AND 112 EDWARDS FERRY ROAD 
TOWN OF LEESBURG, LOUDOUN COUNTY, VIRGINIA 
 

Table of Resources 
VDHR ID  Address Property description VLR / NRHP status 
253-0035-0491 House 

106 Edwards 
Ferry Road  

This is a two-story tall, frame vernacular building, that was built as a dwelling, 
later served as offices, and is now vacant. The interior, especially the first 
floor, has been altered from its original plan to accommodate office uses. It has 
a side-gable roof with gabled rear ell. The exterior is German siding, likely 
replaced in kind since the building was built around 1880. There are changes to 
the fenestration pattern on the west elevation, modern replacement windows, 
and modern railing on the front stoop.   

Contributing resource to 
Leesburg Historic District 
(253-0035)  

253-0035-0492 House 
108 Edwards 
Ferry Road 

This is a two-story tall, frame vernacular building that was built as a dwelling, 
and is used for storage. The first floor plan of the first floor has been slightly 
modified to accommodate its current use. The gable-front building has a full-
width, hipped roof porch with turned posts, and a one-story, shed-roof, kitchen 
ell. The windows are modern replacements. The exterior is covered with 
weatherboard, likely replaced in kind after the building’s construction ca. 1873.  

Contributing resource to 
Leesburg Historic District 
(253-0035) 

253-0035-0493 Slack House 
110 Edwards 
Ferry Road 

This is a mid-nineteenth century, two-story tall, frame vernacular building that 
was built as a dwelling and now houses county offices. It has two portions: a 2-
story tall, 2-bay wide side-gable section built ca. 1860, and a 2-story tall, 
center-gable section expanded from 1 story tall ca. 1910 that has a full-width 
porch with turned posts and scroll-sawn brackets. The shed roof extension from 
the side-gabled wing was added between 1986 and 1988. The exterior is 
covered with German siding and weatherboard, likely replaced in kind since 
the building was built around 1860. The windows and doors are modern 
replacements but the fenestration pattern is unchanged.  

Contributing resource to 
Leesburg Historic District 
(253-0035) 

253-0035-0494 House 
112 Edwards 
Ferry Road 

The brick first floor of this building dates from the early nineteenth century 
with the frame second story and two-story tall, gabled rear ell added in the late 
nineteenth century. It was built as a residence and currently serves as county 
offices. It has a side-gable roof with a frame, gabled rear ell. A two-story shed 
roof porch, built ca. 1982-1988, is found along the rear ell. The brick is 
common bond with flat arches over the windows and doors. The frame portion 
is clad with German siding, likely replaced in kind since originally built.  

Contributing resource to 
Leesburg Historic District 
(253-0035) 
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INTENSIVE ARCHITECTURAL SURVEY OF  
106, 108, 110, AND 112 EDWARDS FERRY ROAD 
TOWN OF LEESBURG, LOUDOUN COUNTY, VIRGINIA 
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112 Edwards Ferry Road 
DHR ID: 253-0035-0494 
Parcel: 231-38-8886 
  
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION  
Site  
This building stands along the northern side of Edwards Ferry Road in the Town of 
Leesburg. It abuts the concrete sidewalk along the street. To the east and west are other 
former dwellings. A board fence is found north of the house along an asphalt-paved 
parking lot. A level lawn is found immediately east, west, and north of the house.  
  
Exterior  
This two-story former dwelling stands on a brick foundation. The core of the building 
measures four bays wide and one bay deep with a four-bay deep gabled rear ell. The side-
gabled roof is covered with standing seam metal and features partial cornice returns. The 
first floor of the core is six-course common bond brick while the remainder of the 
building, the second floor of the core and the rear ell, are of frame clad with German 
siding. A two-story tall, wooden porch with square wooden posts and matchstick railing 
is found between the north wall of the core and the rear ell. The main entry is in the 
second-from-the-west bay of the façade. The windows are replacement double-hung sash 
with two-over-two grids. The windows in the brick section of the building have stone 
stills and flat brick arches, with simple board trim around the windows in the remainder 
of the building. There are three corbelled cap brick chimneys in this building, one at each 
gable end of the core and the other in the center of the rear ell.  
  
Interior  
First floor  
This building has a center hall plan with a central stair. The floor plan has been slightly 
modified to accommodate its current use as county offices. The interior finishes for most 
of the building, except for the bathrooms, are carpeted floors and painted walls.  
 
The front door opens into the central hall, with an open stair. The stair features a turned 
balustrade and heavy, turned newel post. East of the hall is the former living room, now 
an office. This room has a fireplace with a simple mantel with grooved pilasters. West of 
the central hall is a small office. The hallway leads into the former dining room, now a 
conference room. At the south end of this room is a half bath. This room has an exterior 
door onto the side porch and features tongue-and-groove wainscoting. North of the dining 
room is a kitchen with U-plan cabinets and closets filled with filing cabinets. It also has 
an exterior door leading to the side porch.   
  
Second floor  
The stair from the first floor ends at a small landing which connects to a hallway along 
the east side of the rear ell. Along the south end of the building, reached via the stair 
landing, are two offices, one at the southeast and the other at the southwest corners. A 
half bath is found along the west wall of the core. Off the hallway in the rear ell are two 



additional offices. The northernmost office also has a half bath. Access to the second-
story porch is from the stair landing and the rear ell’s hallway.  
 
OWNERSHIP/USE HISTORY  
The earliest deed found for the parcel including this building is from the December 1813 
sale by John McCabe to William Kirk of a one-quarter-acre lot on the north side of 
Market Street (now Edwards Ferry Road) measuring 52.5 feet wide and 207.75 feet deep 
(Loundoun County Deed Book [LCDB] 2R:93). The brick core of the present building 
was built after this transaction and before its October 1820 sale by William Kirk to 
Benjamin Maulsby. This deed mentions a brick house as being on the property at that 
time and sold for $800 (LCDB 3B:179). This deed also reserves for Mr. Kirk the use of 
the well on this lot. Mr. Maulsby did not own the property for long, conveying it to the 
county sheriff in June 1823 to repay his creditors (LCDB 3F:470). James Martin was the 
next owner of the property and he conveyed it to David Car in October 1835 as security 
for his debts (LCDB 4F:177). Martin defaulted on his debt and Carr sold the property to 
Edwin Gover in April 1844 for $225 (LCDB 4U:297). Edwin Gover owned the house for 
five years before selling it for $362.50 to Sarah Dawson. At this time the house was 
described as occupied by Edwin Hart (LCDB 5B:16). The 1850 census lists Edwin Hart 
as an England-born, 48-year-old carpenter. Sarah Dawson then conveyed the property to 
Elizabeth Snyder for $600 in May 1857. At this time the property was described as 
occupied by Fenelon Slack (LCDB 5O:462). This is presumed to be Fenelon Slack, a 
carpenter and wheelwright in Leesburg. Elizabeth Snyder willed the property to 
Catherine Slack, the wife of Fenelon Slack, through her 1902 will (Loudoun County Will 
Book 3Q:411). After Catherine Slack’s death, the property passed to her children, Lloyd 
Slack and Sarah Dawson. Lloyd Slack was an undertaker and cabinet maker in Leesburg 
with a store on King Street near Loudoun Street. Later deeds refer to this house as the 
home of Lloyd Slack. After Lloyd Slack’s death in February 1926, the property passed to 
his son, Lloyd Fowler Slack, and his daughter Mary Louise Hutchinson. Lloyd F. Slack 
had no heirs, so the property passed to his nephew and niece, Richard Hutchinson Jr. and 
Betty Lloyd Boland, after his death, and the death of his sister. Loudoun County 
purchased the property, along with other adjacent parcels owned by these Slack heirs, in 
1980 (LCDB 762:734 and 773:100).   
 
The earliest map evidence of a building on this parcel is the 1854 Yardley Taylor map of 
Loudoun County (Taylor 1854). Since the deeds refer to a brick house here prior to 1854 
it is presumed that this map shows the brick core of the present building. Gray’s map of 
Leesburg from 1878 provides more detail. This map shows an L-plan building footprint 
along the north edge of the street (then East Market Street, now Edwards Ferry Road) 
(Gray 1878). This map also denotes “Hough” as the property owner, even though deed 
records indicate that it was owned by Elizabeth Snyder at the time.  
 
Late nineteenth and early twentieth century Sanborn maps show still more detail about 
the buildings on this property. The 1899 Sanborn map shows the building in its present 
configuration, with a brick first floor, and a frame rear ell. The same building 
configuration is shown on the 1903, 1907, 1912, and 1930 Sanborn maps. The two-story 
tall porch along the west elevation of the rear ell was added between 1982 and 1988. 
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112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), setting along north side of Market Street, 
view to northwest. (0214) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), façade, view to north. (0209) 
 



 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), southwest corner, view to northeast. (0205) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), northwest corner, view to south. (0159) 
 



 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), northeast corner, view to southwest. (0156) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), window detail, north elevation, view to south. 
(0151) 
 



 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, former living room with 
door to vestibule on right, view to south. (0223) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, mantel detail in former 
living room, view to southwest. (0224) 



 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, hallway looking from 
vestibule to kitchen, view to north. (0228) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, stair detail. (0230) 
 



 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, former dining room 
looking into kitchen, view to northwest. (0232)  
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, dining room looking to 
hallway, view to south. (0236) 



 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, kitchen, view to 
northwest. (0242) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, office 5, view to north. 
(0253) 



 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, office 5 with bathroom 
on left, view to southwest. (0259) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, looking down hallway 
to stair, view to south. (0271) 



 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, office 4, view to south. 
(0276)  
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, side hallway looking to 
bathroom, stair to first floor on far left, office 3 on left, view to west. (0290) 



 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, office 2, view to 
southwest. (0288)  
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PARKING (7)
3,672 SF (4,000 SF)

13.1.0

MAIN
MECHANICAL

ROOM
2,142 SF
12.13.0

MAIN
ELECTRICAL

ROOM
756 SF

12.10.1

SERVICE ENTRY
245 SF
12.9.0

ELEVATOR
MACHINE

62 SF (100 SF)
12.11.0

STAGING SPACE
28 SF (15 SF)

8.4.0

CUSTOMER
WORK

COUNTER/TABLE
26 SF (30 SF)

8.2.0

INTERVIEW
ROOM

115 SF (120 SF)
8.3.0

COUNTER
QUEUING

279 SF (120 SF)
8.1.0

TESTING TOILET
69 SF (60 SF)

8.5.0

TEST KIT
STORAGE AND

LAB
135 SF (100 SF)

8.6.0

VCIN SECURE
ROOM

24 SF (100 SF)
8.9.0

DEPUTY
DIRECTOR

OFFICE
305 SF (150 SF)

8.16.0
DIRECTOR

OFFICE
199 SF (225 SF)

8.17.0

SUPERVISOR
OFFICE

221 SF (130 SF)
8.15.3

SUPERVISOR
OFFICE

110 SF (130 SF)
8.15.2

SUPERVISOR
OFFICE

154 SF (130 SF)
8.15.1

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

117 SF (100 SF)
8.14.1

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

117 SF (100 SF)
8.14.2

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

117 SF (100 SF)
8.14.3

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

100 SF (100 SF)
8.14.4

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

103 SF (100 SF)
8.14.5

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

100 SF (100 SF)
8.14.7

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

94 SF (100 SF)
8.14.8

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

99 SF (100 SF)
8.14.12

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

100 SF (100 SF)
8.14.13

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

99 SF (100 SF)
8.14.14

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

103 SF (100 SF)
8.14.15

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

103 SF (100 SF)
8.14.16

COLLECTIONS
SPECIALIST

OFFICE
89 SF (80 SF)

8.23.0

PAYROLL
MANAGER

173 SF (100 SF)
8.13.0

SUPPLY ROOM
49 SF (80 SF)

8.18.0

GPS EQUIPMENT
AND

SURVEILLANCE
OFFICE

217 SF (120 SF)
8.22.0

COPY/WORK
ROOM

124 SF (120 SF)
8.12.0

INTERN/VOLUNTEER
WORKSTATION

62 SF (48 SF)
8.11.1

INTERN/VOLUNTEER
WORKSTATION

51 SF (48 SF)
8.11.2

INTERN/VOLUNTEER
WORKSTATION

61 SF (48 SF)
8.11.3

RECEPTION
COUNTER

WORKSTATION
39 SF (48 SF)

8.10.1

CHIEF
PROBATION

OFFICER
217 SF (225 SF)

9.19.0

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

98 SF (100 SF)
9.16.3

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

98 SF (100 SF)
9.16.1

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

98 SF (100 SF)
9.16.2

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

98 SF (100 SF)
9.16.4

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

98 SF (100 SF)
9.16.5

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

97 SF (100 SF)
9.16.6

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

99 SF (100 SF)
9.16.7

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

96 SF (100 SF)
9.16.8

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

99 SF (100 SF)
9.16.9

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

105 SF (100 SF)
9.16.10

DEPUTY CHIEF
PROBATION

OFFICER
188 SF (150 SF)

9.18.0

SENIOR
PROBATION

OFFICER
152 SF (100 SF)

9.15.0

GPS EQUIPMENT
AND

SURVEILLANCE
OFFICE

93 SF (120 SF)
9.17.0

CONFERENCE
ROOM/TRAINING

ROOM
227 SF (225 SF)

9.21.0

VCIN SECURE
ROOM

29 SF (80 SF)
9.23.0

ID ROOM/ INTAKE
63 SF (80 SF)

9.8.0

TESTING TOILET
69 SF (72 SF)

9.6.0

TEST KIT
STORAGE & LAB

62 SF (100 SF)
9.7.0

STAGING SPACE
12 SF (15 SF)

9.5.0

INTERVIEW
ROOM

131 SF (120 SF)
9.3.0

POLYGRAPH
ROOM

74 SF (95 SF)
9.4.0

WAITING
219 SF (200 SF)

9.2.0

FORMS
COMPLETION

COUNTER
13 SF (15 SF)

9.1.0

RECEPTION
COUNTER

WORKSTATION
69 SF (48 SF)

9.9.0

ADM. ASST
WORKSTATION

46 SF (48 SF)
9.10.0

ANYTRAX
ADMINISTRATOR

95 SF (80 SF)
9.11.0

MALE GROUP
104 SF (100 SF)

10.1.1

MALE GROUP
115 SF (100 SF)

10.1.2

MALE SINGLE
59 SF (60 SF)

10.2.1

MALE SINGLE
60 SF (60 SF)

10.2.2

FEMALE GROUP
123 SF (100 SF)

10.3.1

FEMALE GROUP
99 SF (100 SF)

10.3.2

FEMALE
SINGLE

72 SF (60 SF)
10.4.1

FEMALE
SINGLE

72 SF (60 SF)
10.4.2

FEMALE
SINGLE

72 SF (60 SF)
10.4.3

BOOKING
STATION

112 SF (100 SF)
10.5.0

SATELLITE
CONTROL ROOM

(COOP
CONTROL)

120 SF (120 SF)
10.7.0

COUNTER
QUEUING

115 SF (200 SF)
11.1.0

ATTORNEY/
INMATE CONF

60 SF
10.16.2

HOLDING
TUNNEL

STAFF TUNNEL

MEP/IT DUCT

FILE STORAGE
216 SF (300 SF)

8.21.0

VCIN SECURE
ROOM

31 SF (100 SF)
8.20.0

RECEPTION
COUNTER

WORKSTATION
39 SF (48 SF)

8.10.2

STAFF TOILET
75 SF (72 SF)

12.8.0

STAFF BREAK
137 SF (120 SF)

8.24.0

FILE STORAGE
72 SF (300 SF)

9.24.0

PUBLIC TOILETS
157 SF (140 SF)

1.2.1

PUBLIC TOILETS
160 SF (140 SF)

1.2.2

PUBLIC
TRAINING ROOM

643 SF (800 SF)
2.1.0

CONFERENCE
ROOM/ TRAINING

ROOM
259 SF (200 SF)

8.7.0

EQUIPMENT
STORAGE
65 SF (80 SF)

10.9.0

ATTORNEY/
INMATE GROUP

CONF
60 SF

10.16.1

VESTIBULE
LOCK
37 SF

10.17.1

MALE SINGLE
30 SF (60 SF)

10.2.3

DECONTAMINATION
SHOWER

25 SF (80 SF)
10.15.0

SERVICE
ALCOVE

15 SF

VESTIBULE
LOCK
124 SF

10.17.2

AV CLOSET
20 SF

10.18.0

STAFF
TOILET//SHOWER

ROOMS
107 SF (160 SF)

12.5.1

STAFF
TOILET/SHOWER

ROOMS
108 SF (160 SF)

12.5.2

SHARED LOCKER
ROOM
129 SF
12.5.3

VESTIBULE
121 SF
13.2.1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

HANDICAP SPACE

MALE SINGLE
47 SF (60 SF)

10.2.4

SERVER ROOM
52 SF (100 SF)

9.22.0

STORAGE /
FUTURE
PARKING

STAFF TOILET
47 SF (65 SF)

10.8.0

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

103 SF (100 SF)
8.14.6

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

101 SF (100 SF)
8.14.9

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

101 SF (100 SF)
8.14.10

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

100 SF (100 SF)
8.14.11

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

100 SF (100 SF)
8.14.17

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

95 SF (100 SF)
8.14.18

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

101 SF (100 SF)
8.14.19

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

84 SF (100 SF)
8.14.20

PROBATION
OFFICER OFFICE

224 SF (100 SF)
8.14.21

ELEV #2 PUBLIC
91 SF (100 SF)

1.17.2

ELEV #5 STAFF
62 SF (100 SF)

2.3.1

ELEV #4 HOLD
66 SF (100 SF)

10.20.2

ELEV #3 HOLD
62 SF (100 SF)

10.20.1

JUDGE'S ELEV #6
70 SF (100 SF)

4.12.1

ID ROOM
72 SF (120 SF)

8.8.0

HOTELING
WORKSTATION

68 SF (96 SF)
9.13.1

INTERN/VOLUNTEER
WORKSTATION

69 SF (96 SF)
9.12.2

SUPPLY
ROOM

36 SF (80 SF)
9.20.0

COPY/WORK
ROOM

87 SF (120 SF)
9.14.0

STAFF
BREAK

44 SF (120 SF)
9.25.0

PROBATION
OFFICER (EXTRA)

99 SF (100 SF)
9.16.11

OFFICE
MANAGER
(EXTRA)

151 SF (100 SF)
9.26.0

FEMALE
SINGLE

72 SF (60 SF)
10.4.4

SERGEANT
OFFICE

89 SF (100 SF)
11.10.0

CTO OFFICE
88 SF (100 SF)

11.11.0

SORTING TABLE
29 SF (30 SF)

11.6.0

ADMIN. ASST.
WORKSTATION

66 SF (64 SF)
11.5.1

ADMIN. ASST.
WORKSTATION

42 SF (64 SF)
11.5.2

DEPUTY
WORKSTATION

41 SF (42 SF)
11.8.1

DEPUTY
WORKSTATION

42 SF (42 SF)
11.8.2

DEPUTY
WORKSTATION

42 SF (42 SF)
11.8.3

DEPUTY
WORKSTATION

40 SF (42 SF)
11.8.4

DEPUTY
WORKSTATION

42 SF (42 SF)
11.8.5

STAFF
RESTROOM

61 SF (65 SF)
11.15.0

KITCHENETTE
90 SF (100 SF)

11.14.0

CENTRAL
OBSERVATION

186 SF (120 SF)
11.5.0

MUSTER/CONFERENCE
AREA

132 SF (200 SF)
11.9.0

COPY/WORK
CENTER

28 SF (48 SF)
11.7.0

SQUAD ROOM
132 SF (250 SF)

10.11.0

SUPPLY
STORAGE
32 SF (50 SF)

11.13.0

FILE STORAGE
84 SF (144 SF)

11.12.0

ELEV #1 PUBLIC
90 SF (100 SF)

1.17.1

CUSTOMER
WORK

COUNTER/TABLE
10 SF (30 SF)

11.2.0

JANITOR'S
CLOSET

36 SF (50 SF)
10.23.0

PRISONER FOOD
STORAGE
20 SF (15 SF)

10.10.0
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UP

DN

DN

UPUP

UPUP

PUBLIC LOBBY
963 SF (900 SF)

1.1.1

PUBLIC TOILETS
178 SF (180 SF)

1.3.1

PUBLIC TOILETS
178 SF (180 SF)

1.3.2

PRE-SCREENING
QUEUING

304 SF (400 SF)
1.6.0

APPROACH  &
DROP-OFF
71 SF (70 SF)

1.8.0

SCREENING
70 SF (70 SF)

1.9.0

SECONDARY
SCREENING
69 SF (140 SF)

1.11.0

PICK-UP
131 SF (140 SF)

1.10.0

OBSERVATION
POST

60 SF (48 SF)
1.12.0

SERGEANT
OFFICE

154 SF (100 SF)
1.13.0

HOLD-OVER
ROOM

89 SF (90 SF)
1.15.0

GUN LOCKER
116 SF (120 SF)

1.14.0

EXIT ROUTE
188 SF (280 SF)

1.16.1

TELECOM
118 SF (100 SF)

12.7.1

STAFF BREAK
ROOM

165 SF (150 SF)
6.32.0

ELECTRICAL
62 SF (100 SF)

12.10.4

FORMS
COMPLETION

COUNTER
45 SF (45 SF)

6.1.0

PUBLIC ACCESS
TERMINALS

24 SF (24 SF)
6.2.0

PUBLIC KIOSK
12 SF (10 SF)

6.3.0

PUBLIC
PAYCOPIER

12 SF (15 SF)
6.4.0COUNTER

QUEUING
361 SF (300 SF)

6.5.0

GENERAL
PURPOSE
41 SF (42 SF)

6.6.1

GENERAL
PURPOSE
41 SF (42 SF)

6.6.2

GENERAL
PURPOSE
41 SF (42 SF)

6.6.3

SPECIAL
SERVICE

49 SF (35 SF)
6.7.0

FILE VIEWING
62 SF (64 SF)

6.8.0

COUNTER
SUPPORT
49 SF (50 SF)

6.9.1

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&C)

61 SF (80 SF)
6.10.2

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&C)

61 SF (80 SF)
6.10.1

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&P)

72 SF (80 SF)
6.11.4

GROUP LEADER
(C&O)

100 SF (100 SF)
6.13.1

GROUP LEADER
(C&P)

94 SF (100 SF)
6.13.2

CRIMINAL
SUPERVISOR

OFFICE
241 SF (130 SF)

6.14.0

CIVIL
SUPERVISOR

OFFICE
242 SF (130 SF)

6.15.0

STAFF COPY
CENTER

99 SF (100 SF)
6.16.0

CLERK OF
GENERAL

DISTRICT COURT
296 SF (300 SF)

6.17.0

CONFERENCE
ROOM

204 SF (160 SF)
6.18.0

CHIEF DEPUTY
CLERK

243 SF (150 SF)
6.19.0

COURT
ACCOUNTANT

72 SF (80 SF)
6.20.0

FINANCIAL
RECORDS
STORAGE
83 SF (96 SF)

6.21.0

COUNTNG ROOM
AND SAFE

161 SF (100 SF)
6.22.0

EXPUNGEMENTS
36 SF (36 SF)

6.24.0

COPY CENTER
(WITH RECORDS)

120 SF (100 SF)
6.26.0

CART
STORAGE
28 SF (40 SF)

6.27.1

SERVER ROOM
100 SF (100 SF)

6.29.0

VCIN SECURE
ROOM

29 SF (100 SF)
6.30.0

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&P)

65 SF (80 SF)
6.11.1

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&P)

72 SF (80 SF)
6.11.5

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&O)

72 SF (80 SF)
6.12.1

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&O)

72 SF (80 SF)
6.12.3

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&P)

64 SF (80 SF)
6.11.2

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&P)

72 SF (80 SF)
6.11.6

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&O)

72 SF (80 SF)
6.12.4

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&C)

62 SF (80 SF)
6.10.3

DISTRICT CLERK
REMOTE

STORAGE
952 SF (2,390 SF)

15.1.0

CART STORAGE
102 SF (120 SF)

6.27.2

ENTRY
VESTIBULE
195 SF (200 SF)

1.1.2

EXIT
VESTIBULE
91 SF (100 SF)

1.16.2

JANITOR'S
CLOSET

56 SF (50 SF)
12.14.1

STAFF TOILET
71 SF (72 SF)

6.31.2

STAFF TOILET
71 SF (72 SF)

6.31.1
DEPUTY CLERK

(C&O)
72 SF (80 SF)

6.12.2

LARGE
INTERVIEW
ROOM (6-8)
211 SF (200 SF)

7.2.0

STANDARD
INTERVIEW

ROOM
121 SF (120 SF)

7.3.1

STANDARD
INTERVIEW

ROOM
140 SF (120 SF)

7.3.2

DISCOVERY
REVIEW ROOM

117 SF (120 SF)
7.4.0

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-GENERAL

DISTRICT
95 SF (80 SF)

7.7.1

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-GENERAL

DISTRICT
98 SF (80 SF)

7.7.2

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-CIRCUIT

132 SF (80 SF)
7.8.1

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-CIRCUIT

129 SF (80 SF)
7.8.2

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-CIRCUIT

120 SF (80 SF)
7.8.3

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-CIRCUIT

80 SF (80 SF)
7.8.4

ADMINISTRATOR
MANAGER
95 SF (100 SF)

7.9.0

ASST. COURT
SERVICE

MANAGER
167 SF (80 SF)

7.10.0

COURT
SERVICES
MANAGER
96 SF (80 SF)

7.12.0

FILE AREA
574 SF (875 SF)

7.13.0

COPY/WORK
ROOM

166 SF (160 SF)
7.14.0

STAFF BREAK
ROOM

140 SF (140 SF)
7.16.0

ARCHIVED FILES
709 SF (700 SF)

7.17.0

DEPUTY
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE (A)

183 SF (200 SF)
7.18.1

DEPUTY
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE (B)

190 SF (200 SF)
7.18.2

SENIOR ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

181 SF (200 SF)
7.20.1

SENIOR ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

182 SF (200 SF)
7.20.2

DEPUTY CHIEF
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

183 SF (200 SF)
7.23.0

COMMONWEALTH
ATTORNEY

OFFICE
289 SF (300 SF)

7.24.0

COM. AND
TECHNICAL

SUPPORT STAFF
OFFICE

116 SF (120 SF)
7.25.0

VCIN TERMINAL
ROOM

79 SF (90 SF)
7.27.0

SPECIAL
INVESTIGATIVE

TERMINAL
47 SF (90 SF)

7.28.0

SENIOR ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

190 SF (200 SF)
7.20.3

DEPUTY
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE (C)

211 SF (200 SF)
7.18.3

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-GENERAL

DISTRICT
98 SF (80 SF)

7.7.3

SECURE VICTIM
WITNESS
WAITING

209 SF (250 SF)
7.30.1

VW RESTROOM
65 SF (65 SF)

7.30.2

CUSTOMER
SERVICE

MANAGER
OFFICE

76 SF (100 SF)
7.31.0

VW CASE
MANGER

WORKSTATIONS
60 SF (80 SF)

7.32.1

CASELOAD
MEETING ROOM

79 SF
6.33.0

VW INTERVIEW
ROOM

120 SF (120 SF)
7.30.3

WAITING AREA
165 SF (90 SF)

7.1.1

RECEPTION
100 SF
7.1.2

VW SERVICE
ASSISTANT

WORKSTATION
59 SF (80 SF)

7.33.1

VW CASE
MANAGER

WORKSTATIONS
60 SF (80 SF)

7.32.2

VW CASE
MANAGER

WORKSTATIONS
58 SF (80 SF)

7.32.3

GRANT/
TEMP/VOLUNTEER

ATTORNEYS
94 SF (100 SF)

7.26.1

INTERN WORK
AREA

44 SF (42 SF)
7.11.1

CUSTOMER
SERVICE

ASSISTANT
63 SF (64 SF)

7.5.1

CUSTOMER
SERVICE

ASSISTANT
67 SF (64 SF)

7.5.2

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-J&DR
80 SF (80 SF)

7.6.1

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-CIRCUIT

80 SF (80 SF)
7.8.5

ELECTRICAL
113 SF

12.10.3

GRANT/
TEMP/VOLUNTEER

ATTORNEYS
95 SF (100 SF)

7.26.3

GRANT/
TEMP/VOLUNTEER

ATTORNEYS
94 SF (100 SF)

7.26.2

CALENDAR
ROOM

240 SF (240 SF)
6.23.0

MAIL
STAFF TOILET

68 SF (72 SF)
7.35.1

STAFF TOILET
67 SF (72 SF)

7.35.2

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&P)

68 SF (80 SF)
6.11.3

DEPUTY CLERK
(C&C)

84 SF (80 SF)
6.10.4

GENERAL
STORAGE

243 SF (240 SF)
6.28.0

ELEVATOR
LOBBY

169 SF
1.1.3

ELEV #1 PUBLIC
90 SF (100 SF)

1.18.1

ELEV #2 PUBLIC
90 SF (100 SF)

1.18.2

COUNTER
SUPPORT
22 SF (25 SF)

6.9.2

GROUP LEADER
(C&C)

Redundant Room (100 SF)
6.13.3

LEGAL SERVICE
ASST-J&DR
80 SF (80 SF)

7.6.2

GRANT/
TEMP/VOLUNTEER

ATTORNEYS
95 SF (100 SF)

7.26.4

GRANT/
TEMP/VOLUNTEER

ATTORNEYS
93 SF (100 SF)

7.26.5
93 SF

UNASSIGNED

OFFICE SUPPLY
STORAGE

203 SF (200 SF)
7.15.0

UNASSIGNED
70 SF (0 SF)

7.36.2

LARGE
CONFERENCE

ROOM
409 SF (500 SF)

7.22.0

CLOSET
56 SF (50 SF)

7.34.0

INTERN WORK
AREA

46 SF (42 SF)
7.11.2

INTERN WORK
AREA

44 SF (42 SF)
7.11.3

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

159 SF (130 SF)
7.21.1

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

157 SF (130 SF)
7.21.2

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

157 SF (130 SF)
7.21.3

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

162 SF (130 SF)
7.21.4

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

130 SF (130 SF)
7.21.5

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

130 SF (130 SF)
7.21.6

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

140 SF (130 SF)
7.21.7

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

140 SF (130 SF)
7.21.8

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

140 SF (130 SF)
7.21.9

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

130 SF (130 SF)
7.21.10

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

132 SF (130 SF)
7.21.11

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

136 SF (130 SF)
7.21.12

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

130 SF (130 SF)
7.21.13

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

135 SF (130 SF)
7.21.14

ASST.
COMMONWEALTH

ATTORNEY
OFFICE

135 SF (130 SF)
7.21.15

WORK AREA
232 SF (100 SF)

7.33.2

ELEV #5 STAFF
62 SF (100 SF)

2.3.2

JUDGE'S ELEV #6
72 SF (100 SF)

4.12.2
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MEMORANDUM 

DATE: 11.17.2014 
TO: Town of Leesburg Board of Architectural review 
FROM: Marlene Walli Shade AIA 
SUBJECT:   Response to June 5, 2014 memo 

Removal of 106, 108, 110, 112 Edwards Ferry Road 
 
 

1A. Loudoun County is applying for approval of the demolition of four houses on 
Edwards Ferry Road adjacent to the existing Church Street on-grade parking lot.  The 
houses are 106, 108, 110 and 112 Edwards Ferry Road.  There are no scenarios for 
the construction of the New District Courthouse that allow the courthouse complex, 
including existing facilities to remain in the Town of Leesburg without removal of 
these houses.  All of over 13 design concepts required the removal of these houses. 
 
1B. Previous archeological investigations determined that these structures are 
contributing structures. Our investigations have determined similar. 
   
1C. Most of the existing buildings are occupied and considered to retain structurally     
Integrity. County is undergoing a feasibility study to determine the possibility of 
moving the structures.  Our structural engineer is reviewing the integrity for move 
and a house mover is reviewing as well. 
 

1D. Plans of proposed new structure are attached for review.  
 
1E. No comment 
 
1F. No comment 
 
1G. A reconnaissance study is attached and the Owner has completed all required 
archeology until the new construction allows us to interrupt parking to do additional 
test pits.  The Town of Leesburg previously agreed that this investigation could be 
split into two parts to allow required parking to be retained.  We have attached a 
preliminary landscape plan indicating the planned disposition of the area in which 
the houses are now located.  No demolition will occur until the permit for the New 
General District Courthouse is received.  We will instruct the demolition contractor 
to salvage materials as requested.  Most exterior materials are not original and all 
but one fireplace surround and few doors inside are still original. 
 
1H. We will comply. 
 
1I. No comment 

 
 

Page 1 of 2 
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Property Information

Property Names
Name Explanation Name
Function/Location House, 112 Edwards Ferry Road
Historic House, 42 Edwards Ferry Road

Property Addresses

Current - 112 Edwards Ferry Road
Former - 42 Edwards Ferry Road

County/Independent City(s): Loudoun (County)

Incorporated Town(s): Leesburg

Zip Code(s): 20176

Magisterial District(s): No Data

Tax Parcel(s): 48A-31-5

USGS Quad(s): LEESBURG

Property Evaluation Status

Not Evaluated

This Property is associated with the Leesburg Historic District.

Additional Property Information

Architecture Setting: Town

Acreage: No Data

Site Description:

December 1998: This house is built right up to the street with a fenced rear yard.
 
April 2014: This building stands along the northern side of Edwards Ferry Road in the Town of Leesburg. It abuts the concrete
sidewalk along the street. To the east and west are other former dwellings. A board fence is found north of the house along an asphalt-
paved parking lot. A level lawn is found immediately east, west, and north of the house.

Surveyor Assessment:

December 1998: The street currently known as Edwards Ferry Road was historically a part of Market Street, one of the original roads
of Leesburg as laid out in 1759. (Market Street now takes a Y-bend southeast of Church Street. The part east of Church Street is no
longer known as Market Street since it was renamed Edwards Ferry Road in the 1970s.) This street has historically contained the
town's most important public buildings, and the county jail still remains within the project area. The road is depicted on the 1853
Yardley Taylor Map of Leesburg with only a few buildings, including a jail, east of Church Street. The 1878 Gray's Map of Leesburg
likewise shows only a few scattered houses along the northern side. By 1878, Market Street was also a through-way to Edwards Ferry
Road, which crossed the Potomac River into Maryland approximately five miles east of Leesburg. The street contains a mix of
residential architecture spanning several different periods, including at least three early-to-mid-nineteenth-century brick residences and
the Johnston House/Tavern. By the late nineteenth century, the street was fully developed along its northern side and is marked by
several handsome two-story frame Queen Anne and American Foursquare-style houses, several with original garages, outbuildings and
fences. The south side has always been less developed, with the large Dodona Manor property dominating the east end of the street.
This Federal-style building with a Vernacular addition at 112 Edwards Ferry Road is one of the oldest buildings on the street. The
brick portion dates from the early 1800s. It appears on the 1853 Yardley Taylor, Gray's 1878 and the 1899-1937 Sanborn Maps of
Leesburg. This building contributes to the architectural and historic character of the district in its scale, size, style and building
materials.
 
April 2014: The earliest deed found for the parcel including this building is from the December 1813 sale by John McCabe to William
Kirk of a one-quarter-acre lot on the north side of Market Street (now Edwards Ferry Road) measuring 52.5 feet wide and 207.75 feet
deep (Loundoun County Deed Book [LCDB] 2R:93). The brick core of the present building was built after this transaction and before
its October 1820 sale by William Kirk to Benjamin Maulsby. This deed mentions a brick house as being on the property at that time
and sold for $800 (LCDB 3B:179). This deed also reserves for Mr. Kirk the use of the well on this lot. Mr. Maulsby did not own the
property for long, conveying it to the county sheriff in June 1823 to repay his creditors (LCDB 3F:470). James Martin was the next
owner of the property and he conveyed it to David Car in October 1835 as security for his debts (LCDB 4F:177). Martin defaulted on
his debt and Carr sold the property to Edwin Gover in April 1844 for $225 (LCDB 4U:297). Edwin Gover owned the house for five
years before selling it for $362.50 to Sarah Dawson. At this time the house was described as occupied by Edwin Hart (LCDB 5B:16).
The 1850 census lists Edwin Hart as an England-born, 48-year-old carpenter. Sarah Dawson then conveyed the property to Elizabeth
Snyder for $600 in May 1857. At this time the property was described as occupied by Fenelon Slack (LCDB 5O:462). This is
presumed to be Fenelon Slack, a carpenter and wheelwright in Leesburg. Elizabeth Snyder willed the property to Catherine Slack, the
wife of Fenelon Slack, through her 1902 will (Loudoun County Will Book 3Q:411). After Catherine Slack’s death, the property passed
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to her children, Lloyd Slack and Sarah Dawson. Lloyd Slack was an undertaker and cabinet maker in Leesburg with a store on King
Street near Loudoun Street. Later deeds refer to this house as the home of Lloyd Slack. After Lloyd Slack’s death in February 1926,
the property passed to his son, Lloyd Fowler Slack, and his daughter Mary Louise Hutchinson. Lloyd F. Slack had no heirs, so the
property passed to his nephew and niece, Richard Hutchinson Jr. and Betty Lloyd Boland, after his death, and the death of his sister.
Loudoun County purchased the property, along with other adjacent parcels owned by these Slack heirs, in 1980 (LCDB 762:734 and
773:100).
 
The earliest map evidence of a building on this parcel is the 1854 Yardley Taylor map of Loudoun County (Taylor 1854). Since the
deeds refer to a brick house here prior to 1854 it is presumed that this map shows the brick core of the present building. Gray’s map of
Leesburg from 1878 provides more detail. This map shows an L-plan building footprint along the north edge of the street (then East
Market Street, now Edwards Ferry Road) (Gray 1878). This map also denotes “Hough” as the property owner, even though deed
records indicate that it was owned by Elizabeth Snyder at the time.
 
Late nineteenth and early twentieth century Sanborn maps show still more detail about the buildings on this property. The 1899
Sanborn map shows the building in its present configuration, with a brick first floor, and a frame rear ell. The same building
configuration is shown on the 1903, 1907, 1912, and 1930 Sanborn maps. The two-story tall porch along the west elevation of the rear
ell was added between 1982 and 1988.
 
The changes made to the building since it was last surveyed do not impact its status as a contributing resource to the Leesburg Historic
District. It contributes to the architectural and historic character of the historic district in its scale, size, style, and building materials.

Surveyor Recommendation: Recommended Eligible

Ownership

Ownership Category Ownership Entity
Local Govt No Data

Primary Resource Information

Resource Category: Domestic

Resource Type: Single Dwelling

Date of Construction: 1820Ca

Historic Time Period: Early National Period (1790 - 1829)

Historic Context(s): Architecture/Community Planning

Architectural Style: Federal/Adamesque

Form: No Data

Number of Stories: 2.0

Condition: Good

Interior Plan: No Data

Threats to Resource: Demolition, None Known

Architectural Description:

December 1998: The oldest part of this house is the 1-1/2-story, 4-bay, brick Federal-style portion dating from circa 1800. It has a Flemish bond
facade with 5-course bond on the side elevations. The windows and door have brick jack arches. Around 1895, the house was raised to a full two
stories with a frame second story. It has a gable roof and 2/2 sash. A substantial 4-bay, 2-story rear wing has a 2-story porch on the east.
 
This house is somewhat deteriorated and is now used as apartments.
 
April 2014:
Exterior:
This two-story former dwelling stands on a brick foundation. The core of the building measures four bays wide and one bay deep with a four-
bay deep gabled rear ell. The side-gabled roof is covered with standing seam metal and features partial cornice returns. The first floor of the core
is six-course common bond brick while the remainder of the building, the second floor of the core and the rear ell, are of frame clad with
German siding. A two-story tall, wooden porch with square wooden posts and matchstick railing is found between the north wall of the core and
the rear ell. The main entry is in the second-from-the-west bay of the façade. The windows are replacement double-hung sash with two-over-two
grids. The windows in the brick section of the building have stone stills and flat brick arches, with simple board trim around the windows in the
remainder of the building. There are three corbelled cap brick chimneys in this building, one at each gable end of the core and the other in the
center of the rear ell.
 
Interior:
First floor: This building has a center hall plan with a central stair. The floor plan has been slightly modified to accommodate its current use as
county offices. The interior finishes for most of the building, except for the bathrooms, are carpeted floors and painted walls.
 
The front door opens into the central hall, with an open stair. The stair features a turned balustrade and heavy, turned newel post. East of the hall
is the former living room, now an office. This room has a fireplace with a simple mantel with grooved pilasters. West of the central hall is a
small office. The hallway leads into the former dining room, now a conference room. At the south end of this room is a half bath. This room has
an exterior door onto the side porch and features tongue-and-groove wainscoting. North of the dining room is a kitchen with U-plan cabinets and
closets filled with filing cabinets. It also has an exterior door leading to the side porch.
 
Second floor: The stair from the first floor ends at a small landing which connects to a hallway along the east side of the rear ell. Along the
south end of the building, reached via the stair landing, are two offices, one at the southeast and the other at the southwest corners. A half bath is
found along the west wall of the core. Off the hallway in the rear ell are two additional offices. The northernmost office also has a half bath.
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Access to the second-story porch is from the stair landing and the rear ell’s hallway.
 
The changes made to the building since it was last surveyed do not impact its status as a contributing resource to the Leesburg Historic District.
It contributes to the architectural and historic character of the historic district in its scale, size, style, and building materials.
 

Exterior Components

Component Component Type Material Material Treatment
Windows Sash, Double-Hung Aluminum 2/2
Roof Gable Metal Standing Seam
Chimneys Interior End Brick Cap, Corbeled
Foundation Solid/Continuous Brick Flemish Bond
Structural System and
Exterior Treatment

Masonry Brick Flemish Bond

Porch 2-story, 3-bay Wood Square
Structural System and
Exterior Treatment

Wood Frame Wood Weatherboard

Secondary Resource Information

Secondary Resource #1

Resource Category: No Data

Resource Type: No Data

Architectural Style: No Data

Form: No Data

Date of Construction: No Data

Condition: No Data

Threats to Resource: No Data

Architectural Description:

No Data

Historic District Information

Historic District Name: Leesburg Historic District

Local Historic District Name: No Data

Historic District Significance: The town of Leesburg was established in 1758 by an Act of the General Assembly of Virginia authorizing
Nicholas Minor to sell lots from a sixty acre tract surrounding his tavern. The town was to serve as the
county seat for the newly formed Loudoun County. A committee of three men had been appointed a year
earlier to lay out "proper streets" and their report, which still exists, forms the bases for the present layout of
the community. The settlement had been known as Georgetown in honor of King George II until the county
was formed in 1758, and the name was changed to Leesburg in honor of Francis Lightfoot Lee.The town
grew significantly during its first several decades, but expansion slowed considerably from the War
Between the States to the post-World War II era. As a result, Leesburg possesses an important collection of
structures dating from the late-eighteenth century through the early-nineteenth century, most of which are
well maintained. Especially notable structures include the following: The Laurel Brigade Inn, an early stone
tavern still in operation; Osburn's Tavern, scene of a reception for Lafayette during his visit in 1825; the
"Old Tavern," an architecturally distinguished structure built in the late-eighteenth century; and the County
Office Building, a dignified Greek Revival building erected circa 1844 as the Leesburg Academy. The brick
Classic Revival Loudoun County Court House was completed in 1895 on the site of two previous court
houses. Also located in the town is the significant site of the Old Stone Church, demolished in 1900. The
lot, which was purchased by the Methodists on May 11, 1766, was the first property owned by the
Methodists in America.The numerous early dwellings and commercial buildings, along with the structures
cited, combine to make Leesburg one of the best preserved and most picturesque communities in Virginia.
Fortunately the historic integrity and scenic quality of the town have received protection through historic
zoning established in recent years.
 
See nomination for additional information.

CRM Events
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Event Type: Survey:Phase II/Intensive

Project Review File Number: No Data

Investigator: Sarah Traum

Organization/Company: JMA, Inc.

Sponsoring Organization: No Data

Survey Date: 3/4/2014

Dhr Library Report Number: No Data

Project Staff/Notes:

Intensive architectural survey of four buildings along Edwards Ferry Road in Leesburg, VA.

Event Type: Survey:Phase I/Reconnaissance

Project Review File Number: No Data

Investigator: Geoffrey Henry & Cheryl Shepherd

Organization/Company: Unknown (DSS)

Sponsoring Organization: No Data

Survey Date: 12/17/1998

Dhr Library Report Number: Reconnaissance-level architectural surveys of Leesburg Histo

Project Staff/Notes:

No Data

Bibliographic Information

Bibliography:

Loudoun County Deed Books
1813-1980On file at the Clerk of Courts, Loudoun County Courthouse, Leesburg, VA.
 
Gray, Ormando Willis
1878Gray’s New Map of Leesburg. O.W. Gray & Son, Philadelphia, PA.
 
Sanborn Map Company
1894Leesburg, Virginia. Sanborn Map Company, New York.
 
1899 Leesburg, Virginia. Sanborn Map Company, New York.
 
1903 Leesburg, Virginia. Sanborn Map Company, New York.
 
1907 Leesburg, Virginia. Sanborn Map Company, New York.
 
1912 Leesburg, Virginia. Sanborn Map Company, New York.
 
1930 Leesburg, Virginia. Sanborn Map Company, New York.
 
Taylor, Yardley
1853Map of Loudoun County, Virginia from Actual Surveys. Thomas Reynolds & Thomas Pearsall Smith, Philadelphia. Digital Collections, Library
of Congress, Washington, D.C.

Property Notes:

No Data

Project Bibliographic Information:

No Data
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112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), setting along north side of Market Street, 
view to northwest. (0214) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), façade, view to north. (0209) 
 



 

 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), southwest corner, view to northeast. (0205) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), northwest corner, view to south. (0159) 
 



 

 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), northeast corner, view to southwest. (0156) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), window detail, north elevation, view to south. 
(0151) 
 



 

 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, former living room with 
door to vestibule on right, view to south. (0223) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, mantel detail in former 
living room, view to southwest. (0224) 



 

 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, hallway looking from 
vestibule to kitchen, view to north. (0228) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, stair detail. (0230) 
 



 

 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, former dining room 
looking into kitchen, view to northwest. (0232)  
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, dining room looking to 
hallway, view to south. (0236) 



 

 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, first floor, kitchen, view to 
northwest. (0242) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, office 5, view to north. 
(0253) 



 

 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, office 5 with bathroom 
on left, view to southwest. (0259) 
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, looking down hallway 
to stair, view to south. (0271) 



 

 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, office 4, view to south. 
(0276)  
 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, side hallway looking to 
bathroom, stair to first floor on far left, office 3 on left, view to west. (0290) 



 

 

 

 
112 Edwards Ferry Road (253-0035-0494), interior, second floor, office 2, view to 
southwest. (0288)  
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